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IN THE COMMON PLEAS COURT

PORTAGE COUNTY, OHIO

FLORENCE TOLSON,
Plaintiff,
ve.

No. 92 CV 00428

PINE LAKE LODGE, et al.,

L . L " N R

Defendants.

Deposition of VIRGIL HOWARD CHAMBERS, an Expert
Witness, called by the Plaintiff for cross-examination,
pursuant to the Rules of Civil Procedure, taken before me,
the undersigned, Stephanie R. Dean, a Stenographic
Reporter and Notary Public in and for the State of Ohig,
at the cifices of Willis & Linnen Co., L.FP.A., 78% West
Market Street, Akron, Ohio, on Thursday, the 13th day of

January, 1224, at 2:00 of‘clock, p.m.
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APPEARANCES:

On hehalf of the Plaintifrf:
Willis & Linnen Co., L.P.A.;

By: Mark C. Willis, Attorney at Law,
789 West Market Street,
Akron, Ohio 44303,

On behalf of the Defendants:
Gallagher, Sharp, Fulton & Norman;

By: Kenneth A. Calderone, Attorney at Law,
Sixth Floor, Bulkley Building,

1501 Euclid Avenue,
Cleveland, ©Chio 44115,
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By Mr.

Q
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MERR

VIRGIL HOWARD CHAMRBERS
ful age, an Expert Witness, having been first duly
as hereinafter certified, deposed and said as
=3
CRCSS~-EXAMINATION

Willis:
Mr. Chambers, would you please state your full name
for the record?
Virgil Howard Chambers.
And your address?
776 -~ correction on that. It is 2 Penrose Street,
Harrisburg, 17109.
That’s Harrisburg, Pennsylvania?
That’s correct. I"'m sorry.
What was that zip code?
17109,
Mr. Calderone has faxed me a copy of, I assume this
is your resume. Why don’t we mark this as an
Exhibit real quick, and 1‘11 ask you if that is, in
fact, what it is, and if that’s complete.
Page 1 isn‘t there. There it is, I‘m sorry. What’s
the date on it?

This is a typical resume that I would have on
file. It, by no means, reflects all my background

in water safety. (Indicating)
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By Mr.

Q

MR. WILLIS: Let’s mark that as an
Exhibit.

(Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1 was

marked for identification.)
Willis:
And that document we’re referring to is what she has
marked as Exhibit 1, correct?
That’s correct.
You say it does not reflect all your training --
All my water safety training and experience.
What is it lacking?
What is it lacking?
Yes.
It is lacking a lot of the lifeguard experience that
Ifve had as summer employment, seasonal employment.
Anything else?
I belleve my Navy experience is somewhat sketchy
there, just highlighted, but T do have some
lifeguarding water safety experience in the United
States Navy. I'm not sure all the awards that I‘ve
received are listed here. I have received lifeguard
competition recognition, and that’s not listed here.

I'm trying to isolate those particularmaﬁpécts

Of my background that would relate to this case.

Like I said, there‘s other water safety experience

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434~-1333
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5
that I’ve had with -- well, that could be covered
under the consulting, considerable experience in
consulting with agencies, law firms and individuals
on boating and water safety in the area of
lifeguard, safety equipment and river hazards.
That’s a catchall.
Do you have a more complete resume?
No, I do not have a more complete resume.
How are you currentiy employed?
I am employed by the Commonwealth of Pennsylivania as
a Boating and Water Safety Manager.
How long have you been so employed?
Approximately 16 years.
And what are the duties of that Job?
I believe they’‘re outlined in the resume there, but
basically what I do is direct boating and water
safety programs for the Pennsylvania Fishing &
Boating Comwmission, I review accidents, I conduct
classes, I develop and implement programs, deal with
the media when it comes to boating issues, help
write regulations, supervise a staff of
professionals.
This indicates you‘re Chief of the Pannsylﬁénia
Fishing & Boating Commission, Boating Education

Division.

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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That’s correct.

is that your official title?

Yes, that’s an official title.

You say "Boating and Water Safety Manager®?

There’s a number of official titles.

You wear a lot of hats?

No, they’re all the same title, it just depends on
how it appears. On a paycheck, it appears one way,
on my business card, it appears another way. For
clarity for the public, simplifying things, I say
I‘m a Boating and Water Safety Manager, Chief of
Boating and Water Safety Education, Chief of Boating
Education. It appears a number of different ways,
but itfs all the sane.

Have you had any education, training or experience
in operating a public bathing beach?

Yes.

And what education, training or experience would
that be?

1 worked for the Department of Forest & Waters in
the Commonwealth of Pennsvivania as a Head Lifeguard
during the summer of 769 and ‘70 in charge of a pool
and in charge of a bathing beach.

And that would be experience then as a lifeguard?

That wouldn’t be the only experience. Since 1969,

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - {216) 434-1333
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approximately every summer, untiil 1978, I
lifeguarded at a different facility.

Were all those State facilities?

No, they were not. The only State facility was in
1969 and 70, and I believe in 1972 I also guarded
with the State. Other than that, it’s been
municipal pools, county park and recreation
facilities.

In all those employments, were you working as a
lifeguard? Is that what vyou were doing?

I was working as a lifeguard, Pool Manager,
Lifeguard Supervisor, but my duties did involve time
as a lifeguard, watching the people, being
responsible for the safety of the patrons.

Do you differentiate between lifeguarding and
lifesaving?

There is a difference between lifeguarding and
iifesaving.

De you have any special education, training or
experience with regards to lifesaving?

I do. In the Navy, I was involved in lifesaving
skills and techniques as a first-class swimmer for
the United States Navy. I also have receiVéd,
through the American Red Cross, lifesaving training,

primarily junior lifesaving at one time, and then,

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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of course, senior lifesaving, that was then changed
to advanced lifesaving, and that program no longer
exists. It’s basically under the umbrella of
lifeguard training or basic lifeguarding or Water
Safety Instructor, which I‘ve been a Water Safety
Instructor since 1976, I believe, maybe ‘75.
Actually, I’m sorry, I’ll correct that. I7ve been a
Water Safety Instructor since 1970, I believe it
was.

Have you had any education, training and experience
in water rescue?

Yes,

What is that?

I am Program Director for the National Association
for Search & Rescue. I am the Water Rescue Director
for NASR, I'm also the developer of the national
program in water rescue that has basically been
adopted by several states, including Florida,
Minnesota, Delaware, Connecticut, Pennsylvania, and,
of course, I've been involved in the water rescue
program in the State of Ohio.

D0 you get involved in the actual hands-on, we’ll
call it, water rescue?

Yas.

Do you have an opinion whether there’s a difference

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE = (216) 434-1333
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between lifeguarding a lake and lifeguarding a pool?
There is a difference between lifeguarding a lake
and lifeguarding a pool.

And what is your opinion?

Lifeguarding a lake can be considered more technical
and more difficult primarily because with an open
body of water, you have factors such as the clarity
of the water, the bottom depth, the depth of the
water is not clearly marked as it is in a pool,
people are not sure where the bottom is, so you have
to be very careful in guarding.

There are many times debris in the water
arrive there through natural environmental
conditions, could be underwater brush or debris that
may be floating by, there could be currents that may
exist because of springs, and basically waterflows
that could exist in the open water condition on a
lake,
5S¢ would it be your opinion that lifeguarding a lake
is more difficult than lifeguarding a pool?

I don‘t like to speak in absolutes, but, generally
speaking, yes.

Have you been to Pine Lake Lodge?

Yes, I have.

How many times?

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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Once.
When was that?
The date?
Approximately.
It was November 23 of this year, excuse me, of 1993.
When you were there, did they still have all the
docks and roped divider and diving boards and all
the apparatus in the water, or had that been removed
for the year?
When 1 was there, there were docks in the water.
There was not -- I do not believe there was a
lifeline set up. The various apparatus like the
rings, the diving boards, the sliding boards,
everything was there. The main guard chair was
there. Basically I'm not really able to, with any
accuracy, tell vou what was there as opposed fo what
was there at the time of the accident because I'wm
not sure what was there. When I was there, like I
said, the docks were out, and varicus apparatus was
there. There was not a lifeline across the small
lake at that time.
You‘re aware, though, they have an area roped off
for the bathing beach?
Yes. I was shown where that line connects on the

one bank and then goes across behind the docks and

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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By Mr.

il
connects on the other side of the diving area, so I
was explained that.
{Conference was had between
Mr. Calderone and the Witness.)
Willis:
What all did you do at Pine Lake Lodge when yvou were
there visiting?
Basically I just examined the facility. I made some
very primitive tests on a concern with scanning,
lifeguard scanning and lifeguard reaction time of
how long it would take a lifeguard to go fronm
Point A to Point B, how effective a lifeguard would
be able to scan that particular facility in the area
of responsibility while sitting at the main chair,
and if they were down from the main chair. I also
talked to Mr. Bly con how he conducts his operation,
and on some of the aspects of the facility and the
guards.
Did he share with yvou any documents or records that
he keeps?
Neo, he did net.
Did you measure the water depth in the diving area?
No, I did not.
Do you have any idea how far off the water the

diving board =-- we’ll call them the platform level

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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boards are, the depths?
From my experience, I would say they’‘re one-meter
boards.

MR. CALDERCNE: Let me make sure I
understand your question. You want to know
what the different --

MR. WILLIS: Heights of the boards are
from the water.

MR. CALDERONE: There are different boards
at different heights there.

MR. WILLIS: I’m talking about the lower
aones.

THE WITNESS: Right. It’'s a one-meter
board.

Willis:

Were you shown which board Mr. Whitecloud had dove
Off of?

I believe I was,.

Was that one of the one-meter boards?

That’s correct.

Who else was present when you were at Pine Lake
Lodge?

Ken was there, and the other Attorney from th&f
firm.

Mr. Petrov?

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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Yes, Mr. Petrov.
Did you throw Ken in to see how he did?
No, he didn’t go near the water.
And Mr. Bly, I take it?
Yes, Mr. Bly was there.
Was there anybody elsge there?
Yes, my transportation was there, Pam Dillon, who
lives north of Columbus.
Anybody else?
No, I don‘t believe there was anybody else there.
What material have you reviewed in this case?
What material have I reviewed?
Documents, treatises, depositions, other materials
that you’ve been provided. What all have vou
reviewed in this case?
we’ Ll start with depousitions. 1 did review bhe
deposition from Colleen Smith, T believe the
lifeguard who was on duty. I also reviewed the
deposition from Fil, who was the other lifeguard who
was on the premises at the time. T also reviewed
the deposition from Marvin Bly, the owner of the
facility. I also reviewed the deposition of
Veronica --
Kovan?

-~ Kovan, and I examined some documents that dealt

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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with the license of the facility. I examined the
Ohio Code, I bhelieve, that dealt with swimming
facilities.

Let’s stop there.

There’s an Ohio Guide to Bathing Beaches,
paraphrasing, and there’s an Ohioc Administrative
Code with regard to regulations with swimming pools,
et cetera.

Which are you talking about? Both?

1’11 be perfectly honest with you, I looked at both
of those documents, and I did not really examine
them or scrutinize them very close. My basic
testimony or involvement in the case does not deal
with statute or law or code, it primarily deals with
what I refer to as standard of care.

WE e yuliy wU wvalk awoub that.

What else did you review in this case?

There were some photographs of the facility that
were avallable to me. Basically, as far as the
information that was supplied from Ken’s office, I
helieve that was the extent of it.
MR. CALDERONE: Didn’t I give you the
HCOroner’s Report?
THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. There was the

Coroner‘s Report. Again, I glanced through

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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that. Im not a medical doctor, so I don‘t --
Willis:
Are there any documents that you would like to
review that you haven’t seen or don‘t know if they
exist?
Not at this point, not particularly that I can think
of.
You indicated you investigated these kind of

accidents for the State of Pennsylvania?

No, I did not. I investigated boating and water
safety accidents. This is a lifeguarding type
situation. I do not normally get involved with

lifeguards in the State of Pennsylvania through my

job,

Consulting?

Consulting, yes, but not through my job.

Now, thatfs what Mr. Caldevone has supplied vou.
What have you locked at on your own, books,

treatises, information?

You mean particularly for this case, or things that

I’ve examined that I know exist that would relate to

this case? There are documents.

Let’s talk about both. VYou can split that up.

I did look at the lifeguarding text.

American Red Cross?

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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American Red Cross, yes, the YMCA text on lifeguard.
I'm trying to think 1f there’s anything else in
particular that I looked at for this case. I didn‘t
broaden my investigation for this case because I
took into consideration the training that the
lifeguard had, and as far as 1 was concerned, if
that’s the way she was trained and that’s the way
she was trained to act under the manuals that she
had, that would be fine, but there are other
manuals, the U.S. Lifesaving Association Manual that
I'm familiar with; there’s a video, Making a
Difference, which is a lifeguard training video;
Drowning Fact & Myth, which is a video out by Water
Safety Productions, Mr. Frank Pia. There are a
number of things that I'm aware of.

ME. CALDERONE: He wants ©o kKnow the
things that you relied upon in vour making
your opinion in this case.

It’s difficult to say. It’s a collection of really
all these things and my experience.

Willis:
We talked about earlier ~- are there any documents
or treatises that vou‘re going to present atmtfial?
Are you aware of any that you plan on bringing to

trial in this case to cite or blow up as Exhibits?

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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I am not.

I mean, you’re not planning on coming in with the

YMCA,

and say on this page it says this?

MR. CALDERONE: He 1is not, but T will.
I’'m going to look at sections of the American
Red Cross Manual, and possibly the YMCA or
Ellis & Associates, different things like
that. 1711 tell you up front, I've looked at
those manuals and I may use them with his
testimony, but as far as him bringing it in
tg --

MR. WILLIS: Are you going to ask him to
identify it; is that what you‘re saying?

MR. CALDERONE: ©No. What I’‘m saying is
If11l tell you up front, I‘m going to look at

those, I'm golng o use them at trial. I’ve

not asked him teo blow them up or anything. To

the extent you‘re asking him what he‘s going
to do at trial, he‘s going te tell vou no,
pecause he’s not going to do anything like
that, but I’711 tell you, honestly, I am.

THE WITNESS: I may dguote those manuals,

may refer to standards.

By Mr. Willis:

Q In your opinion.
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In my opinion things that I‘ve been involved with
and studies that I‘ve conducted.
It’s a foundation for your --
It’s a foundation for my experience and my opinion,
but I won’t take the manual and refer to it
directly. I don’t have it in my possession.
Have you prepared a written report in this case?
I have not.
Did you review any type of in-service training
records by Pine Lake Lodge?
I did not review any in-service training records.
What is your understanding with regards to any type
of in-service training out at Pine Lake Lodge?
It’s my understanding from my interview with Mr. Bly
that in-service training is not something that he
documents or has a rormaliized program. The tralning
that he reflected to we that was involved is guards
that come on duty or -- correct that. Guards that
come on to his sgervice at the facility, he or Fil
will have them do some sort of basic swim test and
prove to their level of comfort and competence that
they are good swimmers and are able to handle
themselves in the water.
In your interview with Mr. Bly, did you gquestion him

with regards to how he taught or trained lifeguards

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333
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to handle the facilities at Pine Lake Lodge?
It was my understanding that what he said is when
they come on as staff or when they’‘re employed,
there is some sort of an orientation or an initial
talk that he conducts. He had no record of that to
share with me.
Is that what he told you, or did vou get that from
reading his deposition?
He said that on the day that T talked to him when I
was at the facility. Whether that was in the
deposition or not, I don’t recall. It may have
been.

Are you saying that it was?
It was.

Let me ask you, what are the facts of this
case as you understand them?
A1} right. The facts of the case as I understand
them is that we have a day where Pine Lake Lodge was
open for swimming, it was a day that was unusually
cold and overcast for that time of year. My
understanding is that there was an employee or
company~-type function going on at the facility at
the time. The on-guard lifeguard was a young 1ééy
by the name of Colleen Smith who was in the main

lifequard chair, basically there for the protection
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of the patrons, but there was not people frequenting
the water. There were two younger children pretty
much in front of her that she was watching, along
with the responsgibility of watching the rest of the
facility, and, at that time, there wasn’t anybody
using the water.

A gentleman by the name of Mr. Whitecloud
approached the diving area, went off the board, and
I‘m not certain exactly in what fashion he went off
the board, but his entry to the water was witnessed
by the lifeguard. She recognized that there was a
problem, left the guard stand, and went to find out
exactly what was wrong, and in the process, she saw
two children, older children, older than the initial
two children and asked them to go get Fil, who is
a -- let’s reTfer to him as an off-duty or standby or
a backup lifeguard who 1s available at the facility.
And when she got to the diving arvea, she commenced
doing some surface dives. Fil got there, I
understand in a matter of seconds, started to
organize some sort of a search pattern. Whether
that was taken to fruition or not, he, anyway, ended
up in the water, and, my understanding, the fiféﬁ
dive brought Mr. Whitecloud to the surface, he was

taken from the water. It was assessed that
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Mr. Whitecloud neither had respiration or
circulation, and CPR was started.

It’s my understanding at some point during
this, the emergency medical services were notified
and arrived shortly after he was pulled out of the
water, and care then wasg turned over to the advanced
life support, and that is the incident as I was able
to gather it from the depositions and in talking to
Mr. Bly.

You read Colleen Smith’s deposition?

Yes, I did.

Do you remember her stating in her deposition that
at the time Mr. Whitecloud dove in the water, that
there were eight to ten people in the lake?

I don’t recall her saying that there were eight to
ten pespie win tne water. No, I don’t recall that,
You are aware that Mr., Whitecloud was intoxicated at
the time of this incident; are you not?

It’s my understanding he was under the influence.
Does the fact that he was intoxicated, under the
influence of alcohol, play inteo your opinion in this
case?

In what respect?

In any respect.

It does in a sense that because he was intoxicated

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE -~ (216} 434-~1333
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22
or under the influence, that chances of
resuscitation can be lessened, chances of in-water
coordination and ability can be impaired.
His abilities?
Yes. And his judgment would be impaired.
Do you know how intoxicated he was?
I would be -- I don’t know. I believe == I don’t
know whether I was told or I read that it was over a
legal limit of intoxication. 1I’11 say over .1 or a
L2,
367
-36. Okay, I do recall someone saying that. I
think that was said out at Pine Lake Lodge.
And you understand that to be grossly intoxicated;
do you not?
MER. CALDERONE: Obijection.
I understand that to be an awful lot of blood
alcohol, but different people behave differently
under different levels of alcohol.
Willis:
Do you remember reading in Colleen Smith’s
deposition that she had seen him in the water prior
to this dive that he took, his last dive, we’lllcall
it?

Yas.
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o] Do you remember her indicating that she thought he
was intoxicated from her observations?

A I believe she said that she thought he may have been
intoxicated or under the influence.

Q You indicated when you were out there you did sone
type of test to determine response.

A Yes.

Q I assume you did this to determine how long it took
Colleen to respond.

A Yes. Let me correct that. I took and determined

how long a lifeguard would respond.

Q And you did those tests yourself, right?
A Yes.
Q So really it would be accurate for maybe how you

would respond; is that correct?
MR. CALDERONE: Obdection.
A Ne. I did not use all my speed or ability to react.
I did basically a moderate pace.

By Mr. Willis:

s} How did you conduct the test?

B Basically T sat at the lifegquard stand.

Q Main lifeguard stand?

A The main lifeguard stand where Colleen was ééi&mﬁo
be sitting. I would scan the water to see how long

it would take me to scan the facility with two
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children, roughly, off to my front, and possible
people that could enter the water to my right, and
people that possibly could enter the water to my
left, and I found that to be within a reasonable
limit, that if there were only a couple of people,
that would be very reasonable to scan that in less
than ten seconds.

Then what did you do?

Then I was assuming that I saw a swimmer enter the
water from the diving board, I glanced in that
direction, and at that point I assumed that they did
not come up in a normal fashion. I left the guard
stand and jogged to the point where I would enter
the water at the diving board to see how long it
would take me to maintain ~- to get contact with the
viocthim,

How much time did it take vou to make this
cbservation that there was ~- from the chair?

You‘re sitting in the chair, you‘re making an
observation there’s & problem down in the diving
area.

Right.

How much time did you offer for that?

I witnessed what had happened, so we’re just talking

a second. I saw him enter the water so I assumed
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there was a problemn.
Immediately upon that --
Yes, that’s what I assumed at that point.
Then you timed yourself to jog down to the water?
Yes.
How much time?
14.2 seconds, I believe it was.
Did you enter the water then?
I did not enter the water.
November. I understand.

Do vou recall Colleen indicating that she
witnessed Mr. Whitecloud surface to the effect that
she thought she saw his hair on the surface of the
water?

Yes.

And do you recall then that she walted a period of
time to ascertain whether he was going to come back
up’?

I don’t recall whether she said she waited a period
of time, but I do recall her saving that she saw the
hair come to the surface. Again, since in the
deposition I believe she indicated she witnessed the
entry, the ten second scan is still within reason.
S0 I'm assuming from your test that you’re assuming

it took her approximately 15 seconds to get down to
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the point where she entered the water?
No, I would assume it would take her less than that.
I was under a moderate jog. She was a younger, more
athletic person than I, she was also under a
situation of possible emergency, so she would have
probably moved faster than I did.
In your reviewing of this case, do you have an

opinion as to how long Mr. Whitecloud was under

water?

Only =-=- I don’t have an opinion. Only from what I
read. I have no opinion on how long he was under
water. From what I was able to gather, it was

approximately a minute, from the depositions or so,
give or take 30 seconds on each side. It didn‘t
appear very long. Mayhe it was two minutes. TI'm
NOT welibaun, ~ul I'a 000 Coying <o 4uess in ooy
opinion how long it was. I'm only doing that from
statements of the deposition.

You‘re relying upon the evidence that you‘ve read?
That’s right.

You don’t have some opinion as to how long he was
under based on some education or training?

No.

Let me ask you, in your experience, how long does it

take a human body to settle to the bottom of an
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eight or nine foot depth?
There’s too many factors that come into play.
What factors would you have?
If Mr. Whitecloud entered the water, which I expect
he did, in a slap of the water and not a cut dive,
the air, residual air in his lungs would be knocked
out, the air would be knocked out, and many times he
would go almost immediately to the bottom.

Otherwise, depending on his body composition,
if he did not hit the water where the air was
knocked out, he would possibly drift down a little
slower than he would if the air was knocked out.
Sometimes, and experience has shown that someone
who'’s entered the water suddenly and unexpectedly,
the air would be knocked out of them, and they would
45 wowWn just llkKe o bay ol pricks.
The evidence in this case seems to be that he dove
in. As you indicated, you don‘t know whether it was
a clean dive, we’ll call it, but she alseo indicated
it wasn‘t a belly-flopper, and that he went under
water, and then his hair surfaced at some point
later. 8o I'm just wondering, in your mind, in your
experience, whether you have an opinion aftafméﬁe
hair surfaced, how long would it take him to settle

to the bottom?
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MR. CALDERCONE: Objection.
I don’t feel I can make that guess. Number one,
there is some confusion on the depth.
Willis:
Let’s assume -~
I don‘t recall the height of Mr. Whitecloud.
Six foot two.
Six foot two.
And the depth of the water is between eight and nine
feet. ILet’s assume that.
Mr. Bly indicated it might be as deep as 11 or 12
feet, but --
Let’s assume from County records that it‘s between
eight and nine feet.
If he’s six foot two, and we’re talking about eight
¢r nine reet, he‘s going Lo be there 1n a matter of
seconds.
Settling?
Well, settling? Again, that’s a hard one to call.
It depends on his body composition, it depends on
the water in his lungs. Settling, it could be as
long as a minute, or it could be longer than a
minute, but =--
Let me ask you, what is your opinieon in this case?

What is your opinion in this case?
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My opinion in this case?
Yes.
That the lifeguard acted in a standard or reasonable
care.
You’re talking about Colleen Smith?
I'm talking about Colleen Smith and Fil.
And Fil. Once Fil was alerted, he reacted in a
standard of care?
Right.
What about Mr. Bly and Pine Lake Lodge in operating
this thing, do you think this was set up in a
standard of ~~ to a standard of care?
I don‘t believe that the way that the operation was
set up had any bearing on the actions of the
lifeguard or the situation at hand.

MR, CALDERONE: Let wme Just objlect. Why
don’t you be a little more specific when
you‘re talking about the setup so I know what
you‘re talking about? I don’t know whether
you’re talking about the number of lifeguards
on duty or the recordkeeping or whatever. Ask
him in a little more detail.

Willis:
The facts that you have relayed to me or what you

know =-- I assume you know the beach front of Pine
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Lake Lodge is approximately 500 feet, a little over
500 feet, the beach front, and there’s one lifeguard
at the main chair, and that, by her testimony,
that’s where she was sitting, and that there’s eight
to ten people in the water.

I'm not talking about recordkeeping, I’m not
talking about -~ I mean, as an aside, the
recordkeeping requirements what they were supposed
to do and they didn‘t do. We’re not talking about
that. We‘re talking about hands-on common sense,
what’s going on at the time approximately around
this incident.

Since I have indicated I didn’t see any problem with
the lifequard’s standard of care, I don‘t see any

problem with what you‘re saying.

L P Al I e R

Sno Ioooloties pootue Lifeguarded, do they alls
alcohol in those facilities?

Some they have. The privates they have. TUsually
the State or Federal facilities don’t. I’ve worked

at them, but I really haven’t lifeguarded there.

As you indicated earlier, intoxication can affect
vyoeur ability to swim.

Yes.

Is it safe to assume your opinion would be if you’ve

got people drinking at a bathing beach, that would
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heighten the duties on a lifeguard?
MR. CALDERONE: Obijection.
People that are intoxicated are high risk bathers,
and as a lifeguard knows, that whenever you have a
high risk bather you would have to pay more

attention to them when they’re in the water.

By Mr. Willis:

Q

A

If you were operating a facility like this or this
facility, would you allow alcohol on the premises?
MR. CALDERONE: Objection.

I’m not a drinker.

By Mr. Willis:

Q

A

I‘m talking strictly from a safety standpoint.
I probably -- that’s a hard guestion to answver

because we're talking about a financial

oo T S PV DYy 7 N T . T 4w T e P, -
CONsSi1GeraTicn. A Ld Ul L awing T Lhrng Lnomy

facility then affect wmy ability to have certain
groups come in? Would ocutlawing alcohol at my
facility, you know, affect my business? I would
have to sit down and make some financial decisions
there. T typically -~ to answer your gquestion, I
probably would not because of -~-

For safety considevrationsg?

I don‘t -- for safety considerations, I have

lifeguards that will, you know, hopefully act in a
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prudent, responsible manner. But basically for
personal considerations, I’m not one that feels that
you need alcohol to have fun.

Q Would it be prudent for a lifeguard who saw someone
they thought was intoxicated, to requesgt that they
not get in the water?

MR. CALDERONE: Objection.

A A lifeguard -- it would be prudent for them to do

that if the person was going to enter the water
while they were witnessing it and they had the
ability to stop them. If somecne was drinking or
intoxicated, wasn’t under their realm of
responsibility, and drinking was permitted, I don‘t
know whether the lifeguard would need to take the
time to inform people who are drinking that they’re
not aliowed in the water by leaving the facility and
telling peocple. Are vyou following what I'm saying?

By Mr. Willis:

Q I follow what you’re saying.

A It depends on the situation. T mean, if I was a
lifeguard, and there was someone who was
intoxicated, they were walking into the water, ves,
I would tell them that, "You will not be permitted
to enter the water when it appears that you‘re under

the influence.®
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Willis:
If you saw someone you thought was intoxicated and
you saw them get up on the diving board to dive in,
would you whistle at them ang say, "Hey, I don't
want you in the water®?
If I had that opportunity, T probably would.
In this situation, Colleen did see him prior to
entering the water on the diving board, and she did
not do that.

I believe you are aware of that from reading
her deposition; are you not?
I am. That takes us back to -- it sounds like
you’re trying to confuse the issue here, because I
already said that I think she took a reasonahle

standard of care, which means if I felt that she had

1

the ability, the time to sTop that perzon before

i

L
o

that happened, that‘s not a reascnable standard of
care, but I was under the assumption, in my opinion,
that this person went right off, and the lifeguard
being 150, 80 Ffeot away -—-

183 feet.

== 193 feet away is not able to say, Y"Hold it,®
"Wait a minute." This person immediately just went
off the board. You really don’t have time to react.

Had she been closer, would it make a difference?
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Possibly not. What do vou mean? How cleose? Right
there on the dock of the diving area?
Yes,.
Possibly, ves.
She would have been in a better position?
She would have seen -~ she could have possibly have
seen him enter at a sooner point. She could have
seen his actions and second-guessed the fact that he
was going to come off the board.
That’s where I‘m asking the guestions about the
setup that day. Colleen was told to be in the main
lifeguard chair and te watch the entire beach.

Is that your understanding?
No.
What’s your understanding?
Y oandErsTanding LaS She Las L the contral shair.
Right.
Which enabled her to effectively watch the entire
beach, primarily the people. Aas a lifeguard, we
don’t watch the beach, but we watch pecple. My
understanding is that there were two children in the
water in front of her, and, again, I don’t recall
her -- from the deposition, you‘re saying there were
eight or nine people in the water. T den’t recall

that being in her deposition.
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MR. CALDERONE: Just to clarify that, you
can review her transcript. I think she did,
at one point, say there were eight or ten
people. To the extent that fact comes up, you
can review her transcript.
THE WITNESS: 1Is she saying they were in

the water?

By Mr. Willis:

Q

A

Yes.
I hate to quiz you on the deposition which I read,
but did she --
MR. CALDERONE: Just answer from the facts
that you know and are familiar with now and go
under that assumption. You can always study

it later.

I7m not trying to argue with vou. I just want to
make sure that your opinion is based upon =--

The facts.

~= the facts. And the facts, I think, for the mosgt
part, are in agreement ~- there are some that are
going to be disputed, and it’s going to depend on
the testimony of the individuals, and that’s all. I
just want to make sure we’re talking =-- comparing

apples to apples, that’s all, because given any ~-=- I
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could change the facts to make your opinion one way
or the other obviously, and I just want to make sure
that we’re dealing with the facts in this case,
that’s all.
You‘ve had an opportunity to review

Mr. Kunsman’s deposition, I take it?
Yes,.
I believe from reading that you find that he, for
the most part, doesn’t have any real problem with
the lifeguards themselves; would vyou agree with
that?
I think that’s fair to say.
His problem is more with the -- his opinion is more
critical of the setup of the facility and how it was
being run at that time.
Bathing Beaches indicates there’s supposed to be one
lifeguard per every 300 linear feet?
I'm aware that it does read that.
Does Pennsylvania have any similar type of
guidelines?

MR. CALDERONE: Objection.
That’s a difficult guestion. Not to my knowledge.
The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania does not have any

guidelines as such. I’m not going to say that a
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county or municipality, township might not have some
special regulation.

Willis:

What number do you feel comfortable with as a
standard of care for minimum beach front for a
lifeguard?

Well, this is where I differ with some of the
standards or let’s say the different regulations
that exist. I’m a believer in the number of
lifeguards that should be available for people in
the water or people that are bathing or swimming.
To go by sguare footage is sometimes an unfair
comparison and is not a good way to allow for the
number of guards per patrons, so in that respect,
it’s -~ I mean, if you have three people in the

P B T W PR Y e Doy &
A b e gl — P S ke —d N e L N 4 B = wld PR R A

met
Zer

7

there’s no problem with having one lifeguard on
duty. But you’re saying if you have 500 feet,
according to this 300, you have to have two
lifeguards on duty in order to meet the mandate or
the code, which doesn’t make a lot of sense if
there’s only three people in the water.

I gather then from that you’‘re saying your feeliﬁg
is the standard of care for lifeguards is driven

more by the amount of people in an area than just
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some number of feet on the beach?
Yes.
Do you know how many sguare feet Pine Lake Lodge is,
the swimming area?
No, I don’t offhand.

Are you talking about this whole swimming area
with the line across?
The swimming area. The beach front.
I could figure it out.
I've got 500 feet of beach front. What would you
guess from your --
Again, what’s the depth that goes from the beach
front back to the line?
What would be your estimate, 30 feet, more or less?
Maybe.
oy DT Ioat
Maybe a little more than that.

MR. CALDERCNE: To the extent you’re
asking him to estimate or to approximate
distances and everything else, I obiject.

MR. WILLIS: VYour cbijection‘s noted.

ME. CALDERONE: No, I'm not going to allow
him to sit here and speculate on matters. If
you have guestions about his opinion or

professional judgment things, that’s fine. If
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he didn‘t measure something, then I’m not
geoing to sit here and let him speculate on
different numbers.
By Mr. Willis:
Q What’s your best estimate of the distance from the
bathing beach to the --

MR. CALDERONE: That’s a nice way of
saying *"make a guess."

MR. WILLIS: We‘re calling it an estimate.

MR. CALDERONE: Okay.

THE WITNESS: From the bathing beach? The
bathing beach is a semi circle or an arc, so
it’s going to vary. If you want to -- I can
give you a range. I would say anywhere from

20 feet to maybe 75 feet or 100 feet mavbe.

" S . S SR, L. B "
s

as much as that.

By Mr. Willis:

0 So with a 500 foot beach front, and the numbers that
you‘ve talked about, even at 20 feet, vou’ve got
13,000 sguare feet of swimming area, right?

A You‘re asking me to do mathematical calculations
here. I don’‘t want to -~ unless we put it dd&nron
paper, I'm not going to say yves or noc to these

things because I get too many zeros or you may say

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333




i8

19

20

21

22

23

24

By Mr.

40

10,000 where you really mean 100,000, or maybe it‘’s
a thousand sguare feet. I'm not sure. I mean,
unless we sit down and do the calculations, I don‘t
want to guess,
You’ve got 500 feet of beach front. For it to be a
thousand, you would have two times 500. Twenty
would be 10,000. You can accept my word on that,
All right.
I711 ask you to assume that. So there’s at least
10,000 square feet at Pine Lake Lodge?
That’s probably accurate.

MR. CALDERONE: I object. Move to strike.

He’s asked and answered the guestion.

Willis:
Now, vou’re talking about the number of bathers in

. U F

e
—- ] P L T T P ! e e e e e e e w b e LA R e foa

-

much water; is that safe to say?

A lifeguard doesn’t watch water, he watches people.
But he has to look over water to see people,
correct?

Correct.

Have you reviewed the tables in the Ohio
Administrative Code for the number of 1ifegﬁafa$
required in a swimming pool based on the number of

1

bathers and the square footage of the bathing of the
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pool area?
I saw that. I didn’t feel it was applicable to the
bathing beach. I didn‘t really study it.
The Code section does not, it’s for swimming pools.
I understand that. But my understanding is that
your opinion is that we don’t loock at how many
lineal feet we have, we look at how many bathers we
have in the area.
That’s a better way of doing it, yes, in my opinion.
So if Pine Lake Lodge -- strike that.
Sc that table in the Ohio Administrative Code,
would you find that to be reasonable?
ME. CALDERONE: Objection.
Go ahead.
Because I didn’t study it, I don’t know.
Willis:
If it would state that for one to fifty swimmers,
bathers in a 6,000 or more sguare foot facility, you
need two lifeguards, would you find that to be
unreasonable?
MR. CALDERONE: Objection. VYou‘re talking
about a swimming pool, right? That’s what the
Code is all about.
MR. WILLIS: Correct.

MR. CALDERONE: He’s asking for your
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opinion about the square footage of swimming
pools now.

THE WITNESS: Repeat the gquestion.

By Mr. Willis:

Q

B

Assuming you have a pool of 6,000 or more versus --
Let’s give a dimension. That depends on -- are we
talking a rectangular pool, are we talking a pool
that is L-shaped, because, again, the lifeguard’s
scanning technique and pattern is going to vary.
What’s the easiest to‘scan, rectangle?

Rectangle.

6,000 square foot rectangle.

What would the dimensions be?

30 by 20.

30 by 20.

S00 Ly Z0.

See, this is the kind of problems we run into.

100 yards, 20 feet wide.

Hundred yards?

300 feet is 100 vards.

And you’re saying the pool is 300 feet long?
Right.

Ckay.

You want 6,000 sguare feet in a rectangle?

Ckay.
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6,000 sqguare feet, you have one to fifty bathers.

Are two lifeguards unreasonable?

I don‘’t think you understand what I mean. If you
have -- it depends on the location of the bathers.
We’re talking about a 300 foot pool, and then we
have all the bathers in one end, then I wouldn‘t
hesitate to say that one guard would be sufficient.
But if we had them all spread out, the type of
people that were in the pool, because we’re =--
again, lifeguards are people watchers, the type of
people in the pool may indicate whether you would
want two lifeguards or -- see, there’s all kinds of
variations here. VYou can have a lifegqguard and a
competent lookout.

Cne of the things, I beslieve, 1f yvou have a
Liswguacd aVdiiavie, wuk ywu nave anobher set of
eyes watching, a junior lifeguard, or somecne else,
that would be fine. Or you have a lifeguard who vou
know those fifty people are on the swim team
mempbers, one lifeguard would be sufficient. If vou
have one lifeguard and 50 people are handicapped,
then you may want another lifeguard or possibly
three lifeguards, so there’s tooc many %ariaﬁiégjm
That’s why many times when I‘m involved with setting

the number of lifeguards needed per square fostage,
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I said it depends on the user, the number of people
who are using the facility.
That’s a very good point. Looking back at Pine Lake
Lodge, we don’t have a 300 foot, we have 500 feet,
we’ve got people that are drinking, we’ve got
children, do you think it is your opinion that the
standard of care requires only one lifeguard to
watch 500 feet of water with the different
apparatuses they have in the water, diving
facilities and the individuals they did have that
day, intoxicated people and children?
I believe that there was a reascnable standard of
care because we're talking about other variables.
The other thing you neglected to mention in your
statement now is the fact that it was a ccld day.
LU wasi U Llawey LAl peupie wodiu oe wOlng Lot Lie
water or many people would. The other thing is the
location of the people were such that they were not
spread out,.
See, that’s back to the facts, and I think -
In my opinion, that’s the way I understand it. If
you’re saying there was one person down at the far
end of the 500, and there was another pérSOﬁ hé;é,
and there were children here, then there could be an

argument on the number of lifeguards that would be
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on duty. However, she was still able -~ because in
the time that I was there, I would still, even with
eight people in that 500 foot, be able to scan in
ten seconds or less, and that‘s what I
basically -- as far as reasonable standard of care,
is that 10/20 rule for that situation. (Indicating)
You talked about scanning 10 seconds and 20 seconds
to get the diver -- not the diver, but the victim,
we’ll call it, out of the water, right?
To get to the victim, not necessarily out of the
water.
Twenty seconds to get to them?
Get to them.
Do you think she got to him in 20 seconds?

She got to the lecation in 20 seconds ig my

e A . S Rl P P T T F P oy 4»—1,-.-_1\-1:
e P . -
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brought Mr. Whitecloud out.

S0 she did not get to him within 20 secondsg?

She did not get to him in 20 seconds.

Had she been sitting in the lifeguard chair at the
diving area, do you think she would have had a
better chance of getting te him within 20 seconds?

I can’t answer that queéﬁibn, If you‘re saying that
if she would have had -~ she didn‘t get to him in 20

seconds, but if she would have had 25 seconds, yes,

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333




10

11

12

13

14

15

17

i

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

46
then I could say yes, because that’s a different --
you could take five seconds off of that, but she
didn’t need to because Fil got to him.
You think Fil got to him within 20 seconds?
No. I’'m saying Fil got to him, so the time in which
she would get to him was irrelevant then.
But it was beyond 30 seconds by the time Fil got
there; would you agree with that?
Yeah, it was probably bevyond 30 seconds.
She had to get out of her chair and run down there,
and if she had seen him go under and running down
there, she has to watch where she’s running to get
around there, then she has to reacquaint herself to
where that body went under; is that correct?

Are you talking about -- in her mind that probably

Because the facts are she dove several times and
never found him. Had she been there, she would have
had & better opportunity to have a better fix of
where he went under and recovered him; would vou
agree with that?

MR. CALDERONE: Objection.
No, because I'm not convinced -- I’'m not convinced
that he was recovered at the exact point he went

under.
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Are you saying that that’s the truth, where he
entered the water was where he was recovered from?

By Mr. Willis:

Q I don‘t think anybody knows, to be honest with you.
A Then I can’t answer your gquestion.
Q What we do know is Fil went on the board, dove in

and finds him, so I think it’s safe to assume that

he -- where Whitecloud dove in, Fil dives in, he was

pretty much in the same area as where he went under.
MR. CALDERONE: That’s your assumption.
MR. WILLIS: That’s right.

By Mr. Willis:

Q I'm asking do you think that‘s a good assumption?
A No.
Q Why not?

have been missing him by inches. There’s no doubt
that Fil’'’s recovering of Mr. Whitecloud had some
luck to it. I mean, we know a given location where
someone went down. As vou go down and yvou surface
dive and you feel, the visibility was zero when
you're down there at that depth, vou’'re feeling, she
could have been feelinq under his atm, right beside
his head and not feel him, and when Fil went down,

he, for all I know, went down basically the same
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location that Colleen was going down, and he made
contact. So it’s really a difficult thing to say
that Fil made the contact because he went downv
exactly where Whitecloud went down.

The facts as I see them remain that We_have
two lifeguards here that acted in a very
responsible, prudent manner under a reasonable
standard of care, and on all the facts that I'm able
to gather, I don’t think we can shake that, and it’s
my understanding that you’re trying to find that
there was some error on either Colleen or Fil’s
part, and I don’t think we’re going to find that.
No, I really am not. I believe Colleen -- she could
have done things a little better maybe or a little
different which might have helped, but, in all, 1
think she 4id the best that she could do, given
where she was located, given what conditions she was

put into.

I think the better scenario would be to have
half the beach closed if vyou‘re going to have one
person watching eight to ten people so that she has
@ better idea of what’s going on. I think a better
idea would be not to have people driﬁkinémaf Pine
Lake Lodge, or allow them back in the water if

they‘re intoxicated, or have someone monitoring
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those things. And so I want you to understand that
my problem is not really with the lifeguards
themselves, so to speak. Yes, Colleen could have
blown her whistle, she might have gotten Fil’s
attention guicker, he might have gotten him out of
the water quicker, and these are maybes, but I think
the bone of contention here is with Pine Lake Lodge,
and I call it a setup of the facility earlier, and I
think that’s really what I‘m asking you is, do you
believe, is it your opinion that for a facility that
is allowing alcohol in there, knowing the people are
drinking alcohcl, they know they have no visibility
in the water, that it is okay to have one lifeguard
watching people, eight to ten people over a 500 foot
beach front?
see, that’s not how I see the facts -- that’s not
how I see the facts of the case.
Let’s assume those are the facts of the case.
We’ll assume that the facts of the case are that
there are people drinking. Are you saying that the
people in the water are drinking, or the people at
the facility are drinking? The eight or ten people
in the water, are they drinking?
We don’t know what the eight or ten people in the

water are doing. We know one of the persons in the
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water, the lifeguard saw him prior, she knows he’s
intoxicated. She says eight to ten, I assume that
means there’s seven to nine other people, and I
don’t know what they’re doing, you don’t know what
they’re doing, she doesn’t make any differentiation.
She says some of them are children in the kiddie end
of the pool, and I’'m asking you to assume that. We
know one person‘s intoxicated.
But that person is not in the water?
S5he sees him in the water at some point.
Well, it’s my understanding that she saw him in the
water at the point of entry.
She also testified that she saw him getting out of
the water earlier and just left. She was glad he
left because he was intoxicated.
That’s right. And that’s an acceptable response for
a lifeguard to -~ YWow, that’s over, that person is
out of here.?®
I agree with vyou.
And that was sowms tftime -
Five or ten minutes before he came back.
It was that short a period of time, five or ten
minutes? I was under the impression it was a little
longer than that because through the deposition he

played a volleyball game or something like this. So
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I don’'t know because a lot =--
She estimated, I think, five or ten minutes.
He left, but when he came back, he came back
basically with some aggression in the sense that he
went right off the board into the water. It’s not
like he contemplated ~-
What do you base that on?
I base it on one of the documents that I read, and I
believe it would have been Colleen’s, that she saw
him walk up to the board and enter the water.
He walked up to the board and entered the water.
And approached the board and entered the water. I
don’t know whether the word "walked"™ was used or
not.
But still my guestion is, do you feel that the setup
that they have there with the alcochol, no visibility
in the water or very low visibility in the water,
and the area that you’re covering, is it reasonable
to put one lifeguard in charge of that much water
area with eight to ten people in the water --
Yag,
~= knowing that one of them is intoxicated?
It is reasonable to do that because there is also
another lifeguard on the premises who is in standby

status or off guard duty status, but is there and is
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trained. With eight or ten people in the water, I
don’t see utilizing two lifeguards to watch the
people. One lifeguard can very adequately supervise
or, let’s say, watch eight or ten people and respond
with a 10/20 rule, which is probably the most rigid
form of standard that we have. Other facilities may
bend that a little bit, 15 to 30, 15 to 20 I‘ve
heard. I’ve heard a number of different things.
Let’s get your understanding of the 10/20 rule down
pat here. Ten to observe them, 20 to get to them?
Twenty to get to them. But 20 to get to them does
not mean 20 to actually complete the rescue. Twenty
is to basically get to where you saw the person. I
mean, the facts of any accident is if a lifeguard
sees someone having difficulty, they get teo them in
50 many seconds, and they end up struggling with
this person and they don’t have control. Is that in
violation of the 10720 rule? WNo. Basically what
yoeu‘re saying is a lifeguard should scan the area in
10 seconds, the people in the area, be able to scan
the people in 10 seconds, and then respond, be
within a 20-second response time to any point that
they‘re responsible for.

MR. CALDERONE: I wanted to clarify one

thing. Earlier he asked you if Colleen got to
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him in 20 seconds.

Was that your application of the 10/20
rule?

THE WITNESS: Yes, I believe so. He was
telling me that Colleen did not make contact
with him in 20 seconds, but that wasn’t her
fault. It wasn‘t because she didn’t try. I
mean, the fact is she could have very well
made contact with him, but he alluded her
because of the conditions.

By Mr. Willis:

Q Had this been a pool, she would have got him on
first dive?

A Most likely. If that had been a pool, she nmost
iikely would have had him the first time because of
the clarity of the water.

O S50 the example you gave of someone struggling, is
that a viclation at least they had the person in
that example, in this case in 20 seconds she was
unable to get to him? She may have missed him by

inches, as you’ve indicated --

A But that isn’t in violation of the 10/20 rule.
Q You don't see it -~
A I don’t see that as a viclation of the 10/20 rule,

because she was able to get to him in 20 seconds if
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she would have saw him.
But that’s the issue.
The 10/20 rule states that you should be able to
scan the people in 10 seconds and get to that person
in 20.
Where is this 10/20 rule set out, in what documents?
It appears in the Ellis & Associates Lifeguard
Training Manual.
Allyson?
Ellis & Associates.
E-l-il~i-g?
Yes. They’re the ones that pretty much adopted it.
Let me explain this. They’re water park lifegquards,

they’re pool lifeguards, and the 10/20 rule is a

reasonable standard of care for a pool. When you go
to the open water, the rules -- there‘s a little bit
more latitude in the rules. I‘ve talked to some of

the lifeguards at San Diego Lifeguard Service and I
asked them about a 10/20 rule, and basically they

indicated that it may take them longer than that.

ot
i

The 10/20 rule a standard for the water park
industries and many of the aquatic facilities =-- I
guess just water park facilities. When we get into

open water, vou’ve got more latitude. People don‘t

normally drown in less than a minute. In less than
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a minute, they can be resuscitated. However,
remember we have complicating factors here.
Mr. Whitecloud was intoxicated. From a medical
standpoint, that may lessen the time in which it
takes someone to have respiratory arrest or cardiac
arrest.
You don‘t have an opinion with regards to that, do
you?
Not --
You would leave that up to a doctor?
I would leave that up to the doctor,.
Or the Coroner, in this case.
If this is the case, the Coroner, or some other --
I’m not sure whether the Coroner is knowledgeable
along that line. I would hope that he is, but there
are medical doctors, Emergency Roecm physicians that
are not knowledgeable when it comes to drowning
situations and the complications that exist, and the
different types of water that people drown in, the
temperature of the water that people drown in, and
the condition in which pecple drown whether thevy/re
intoxicated or under the influence of some drug.
But you don‘t feel competent te render an opiﬁ{gﬁ?

That’s correct.

MR. WILLIS: What is your experience
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en?

t the 10/20

rule, and I’m trying to clarify what we’re

talking about, get to and areas a
else. That’s what I’m looking at
want to get it straight.
bo you want to read it?

THE WITNESS: I believe the w
stated there is get to the area.
say the victim, do they?

By Mr. Willis:
Q It says 20 seconds to reach the victim.

MR. CALDERONE: Where?

MR. WILLIS: "10 seconds to d
distress, 20 seconds to reach the

MR. CALDERONE: What‘s 1t say

MR. WILLIS: The area we scan
larger -- to effectively get to w
seconds.

THE WITNESS: Get to.

By Mr, Willis:
0 I mean, you know, you‘re talking about

technicalities and splitting hairs.

A That’s what I'm saying, technicalities

nd everything

because I

ay it’s

They don’t

iscover
victim.®
in .37
cannot be

ithin 20

and splitting

hairs, that’s dealing with a poocl or a water park.
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issue when we talk about

Do you apply the 10/20 rule to this case as a

standard of care?

I think the 20 -~ it’s my opinion that the 10/20

rule is probably the most rigid standard that you

could have, and it does

does conform to the 10/2
rigid standard it does ¢
how long should it take

person in that facility,
than 20 seconds.

So you‘re saying that --
straight. You’re saving
Colleen ==

is that

She was well within --

10/207

5he was well within any

that could be -

Any reasonable standard

7}

Any reasonable standard

0

would be the 10/20, and
that,

In your experience with

—-- the lifeguard’s reaction
0 rule. S50 under the most
onform, but if I were to say
a lifeguard to get to the

it very well may be more

let me just get this

that you think your opinion

standard of care

reasonable

of care?

of care. The most stringent

I think that she was within

through my primitive testing.

drowning viectims or near

drowning victims -- how do I want to put this into a
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guestion?

Do you have any recollection of the facts in
this case about what Tim Whitecloud had in his
lungs?

I don’t have any reccllection.

They found some plant material, do you remember
reading that in the Autopsy Report?

I believe so, but not for certain.

Do you remember Mr. Trocchio indicating that he had
mud or muck on his face?

Yes, I de recall that.

And some of that out of his mouth or whatever?

Yes, 1 do recall that.

In your mind, would that be consistent with him
being on the pottom of the lake?

That would be consistent with the fact that at some
point that his face did come in contact with the
bottom. However, if my memory serves me correctly,
I believe that the lifegqguard brought him up by his
feet or by his ankle. In that case, being the
helight that he said, he could conceivably be just
several feet off the bottom and still be brought
down through the muck by pulling his aﬁkle and his
head dropping down through =--

That’s conceivable?
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Very much so, ves.
1 agree.

What about the fact that he’s got this in his
lungs?
Well -~
He would have had to have sucked that into hisg
lungs; wouldn’t he?
You‘re asking me to render a medical opinicn, and I
can make all kinds of hypotheses. Maybe during the
mouth to mouth resuscitation it could have been
aspirated in by the rescuer. I don‘t know how that
could have been aspirated intc the lungs. There
could be a number of different explanations for
that, but I -~
That’s a puzzling issue in this case. What
different explanations can you arrive at as to how
he has -- he dives in, he surfaces, you see his
hair, then he settles back down, and he's rescued.

How does he get the muck, mud, whatever you
want to call it, in his face, in his lungs?
In his face, I can give you a hypothesis. In his
lungs, I’'m not sure whether that would cause him to
aspirate unless in this brief period cof time that
we’re talking about, if it is, indeed, a brief

period of time, he could still be actually breathing
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or aspirating water as he was being brought up. I
don’t know. Again, I think a medical doctor would
be best to answer that.
Do you have an opinion? Do you know if once people
suck in the water and fill their lungs with water,
do their lungs continue to expand and contract?
I don’t know that. The complicating issue was that
he was intoxicated, so that may cause the body to do
things that maybe wouldn’t normally be done. Again,
I think a medical doctor could give you that
cpinion.
We've got one.

Is it your experience that bodies, human
bodies when they settle to the bottom do it feet
first or head first?

That depends on the composition of the person.

What do yvou mean "the composition®?

Their welght distribution, whether the body

density -- whether it’s a lot of adipost tissue
versus someone who has very dense body tissue, like
gomeone who ls very muscular and big. It depends on
the amount of the air that might be in the lungs at
the time, whether the air was expelled on impaét}
There could be a number of factors.

If there’s any alr in the lungs --
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That would probably give the person buoyancy to
be --
So his feet would settle first?
So the feet may settle first. I’'m not saying they
would. Neither may settle. He may just be in a
neutral buoyancy position, vertical, at angle, or
horizontal in the water.
At some point, Mr. Whitecloud settled to the bottom;
are we in agreement with that?
No.
How did he get to the bottom?
Like I said, if the lifeguard -- if he grabbed his
foot, very easily as you pull someone through the
water, the body will drop, and he could have used,
in pulling, he could have drug Mr. Whitecloud’s face
through the muck at the bottom.
I agree with that. But where he found
Mr. Whitecloud he may not have been laying
immediately on the bottom, but he was pretty close
to the bottom; is that your recollection?
He would have been within five feet of the bottom,
because 1f he was six foot tall, we could say as he
pulled him -~
What’s your recollection of the facts of where the

body was depthwise when Mr. Trocchio found him?
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I don’t recall what the depth was he said he surface
dived to retrieve him.
He didn’t surface dive, he dove off the board.
Okavy. I stand corrected then. Whatever.
Isn’t it your recollection that he found him
basically at the bottom of the lake?
I don‘t recall that. I could have read that, but I
don’t -- what does that mean?
I’'m trying to figure out how this guy settled to the
bottom of the lake --
If he, in fact, did, you’re saying?
He got to the bottom somehow.
You're assuming that he was at the bottom. I’m not
in the assumption that he was laying on the bottom.
1’m not assuming he was laying flat on the bottom,
but within maybe a foot at the most,
You mean his head was at a foot?
Mr. Trocchio indicates that he was laying basically
horizontal with maybe his foot up. He’s guessing
this by the way he felt the body.

I was goin

i

—-- he would have

w2

to say, that would b
to feel more than just the foot if they’re
horizontal . I would think it would be.very
difficult to make that assumption when you‘re in

nonvisible water when you grab someone’s foot. It
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depends on was his knee bent up, was it down?
He said it felt like he was laying facedown with his
knee face up?
If that’s what he =zaid.
He’s the only person we have to rely on for that.
Sure. That would be all the more reason that if he
pulled the foot, that his face would go down in the
muck.
I agree. But my question is, what is your opinion
as to how this guy surfaces and at some point
Colleen sees his hair, and at the next point they
get him, he’s basically at the bottom, horizontal?
How does that happen?
bid she say he surfaces and she sgaw his hair, or she
saw his hair as he went down? Maybe when he
entered -- the other thing I’'m not in complete
understanding of is how he entered the water. VYou
said he dove, and I remember in reading the
deposition --
She said it wasn‘t graceful.
Not that. I think there was testimony ~-- I don’t
think it was Colleen as much asg it was Vaerconica, she
said that he‘d been practicing a flip, and he ﬁés.
flipping -~ it was his brother maybe -- do we have a

deposition from his brother?
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Yes.
Then therefs anocther deposition that I did read that
he was practicing a flip, and he’s not one to give
up on not mastering something he wanted to do. So
if he’s doing a flip, that’s a different type of
entry than doing a dive.
Yes.
I mean -- and, again, I‘m not sure whether it was a
front flip or a back flip, so Im not really certain
how he did enter the water.

If he was intoxicated and he was doing flips,
chances are he did somewhat smack, and there is a
good chance that he knocked the air out of him and
he went down.

If he did do that, how long would it take him to
settle at the bottom, in your opinion?

It preobably wouldn’t be more than a few seconds. If
you knock the area out of someone, they’re going to
ge down to the bottom in relatively a few seconds.
Again, depending -~ I'm not sure of his body makeup.
IT'm not sure how heavy this per<on was.

185 pounds, six foot two.

Are you talking muscle or are you talking fat?

Six foot two, muscular.

He would probably go down a little faster than most
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people.
Not much body fat.

Do you think he would still be sucking water
in when he hit the bottom?
I don’t know. He could. It’s conceivable.
You don’t have an opinion, though, one way or the
other?
No.
I believe we talked about this earlier, but your
sole opinion as to any amount of time it took them
to get Tim Whitecloud ocut of the water is based
solely on what you’ve read in the depositicns?
Yes.
The fact of where his body was found or anvthing
like that does not play into your opinion as to how
long =--
No. Ifm not doing any personal calculations or
scientific research on the rising and falling of
bodies and the recovery. No, I‘m just doing it from
what I7ve read. And I probably should say my
experience on how long it would normally take me if
I would do that.
To expel all your air?
Expel all my air and go to the bottom. And then if

there was somebody at the bhottom, I would dive down
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and grab them, bring them up, and how long it would
take me to get them out of the water. Those are my
assumptions through my own experience that --
But you’re assuming you find them on the first dive,
right?
Regardless of whether I find them on the first dive.
That amount of time that passes is variable. I
mean, I don’t know. If I dive several times, it’s
going to be more time. If I get them on the first
dive, it’s going to be less time.
Do you have any understanding or education or
experience with timetables of the longer you‘re
under water what your survival rates are? Do you
know anything about that?
A little bit, ves.
What’s your understanding of that?
It has a lot to do with recovery rate whether
someone -- depending on the temperature of the
water, the size of the victim, the age of the
victim, when is the last time they ate, whether they
were intoxicated or not, whether the water was clean
water or polluted water, dirty water. All of these
factors play'a part in whether someone’s gdiﬁg'to
survive once they’re resuscitated.

Where does time fit inte that?
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Where does time -- normally speaking, the ionger
you‘re under water, the less chance you have of
surviving. That’s a normal assumption we can make.
What would you term acceptable at Pine Lake Lodge?

MR. CALDERONE: Objection.
Willis:
What would be your opinion?
What was the temperature of the water?
Let’s assume -- we’re talking about August. Let’s
assume it’s in the seventies or warmer.
Or warmer? I thought it was a spring-fed lake.

I would imagine people have survived 15
minutes under water, 20 minutes. Peaple have
survived an hour under water.

Those are rare cases, right?

i don’t think they’re rare, no. Dr. Nemeroff has
Gver 200 cases that he has documented. I think
there have been a lot of people who could have been
resuscitated that have been under water that weren’t
resuscitated because they assumed that they were
dead, because when they’re brought up, they are
cold, they’‘re pale, they’re blue, they’re not
breathing, and many people give up if theré'ishfﬁ
someone there who is trained to resuscitate.

My question is, your the Operation Manager now for
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Pine Lake Lodge, what do you think would be
acceptable? What’s your opinion?

MR. CALDERONE: Acceptable for what?

A I don’t understand the question. Repeat the

question.

By Mr. Willis:

Q What would be acceptable to you as to the length of
time someone could be under water? Are you going to

apply the 10/20 rule?

A No,
Q Are you going to apply something more stringent?
A No.

MR. CALDERONE: The question assumes that
there is an acceptable standard for allowing
someone under water. I weuldn’t accept that
people do go under water, but --

MR. WILLIS: Can we have you testify, too?
I mean, I don’t want people going undeyr water
either if I was the Operations Manager.

THE WITNESS: People do go under water.

MR. CALDERONE: TIt’s like asking a doctor
what the acceptable standard of people vou
allow to die on the operating table is.

By Mr. Willis:

Q At some point you’re making a decision.
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I don’t understand your question. I'm sorry.
1f you were the Operation Manager, Facility Manager
at Pine Lake Lodge -~
Yes.
-= you're the Manager there. How would you go about
placing lifeguards, and what considerations would
vyou take into mind to do that as to where you placed
them?
I believe I answered this question. I would place
lifeguards where the bathers basically were located,
if -- where people were in the water.
How close would you want them, lifeguards to the
bathers?
It depends. If we have children, I would want the
person closer to the children, I would want them
within 20 seconds of reaction time from them.
If you had been the Operation Manager that day,
would you have used one lifeguard?
I believe I would on duty. There was another
lifeguard on the premises. I would have had no
preblem 1f all of a sudden the sun came out, the
temperature went up 20 degrees, and eveyrybody there
wanted to go in the water. I still had anoﬁhér
lifeguard to handle the situation, or still had the

option of saying, "We‘re not going to do that."
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Do you have any idea what -- let me ask what your
opinion would be.

What is a safe diving depth for a one-meter
board?
This is an area that is being currently discussed
within the diving community. I don‘t want to -~ I
wouldn’t want to render an opinion on that because
it is something that is very controversial, and I
don’t really have an opinion on diving boards.
You have no opinion as to what a safe depth is for a
one-meter board?
I could tell you what a dangerous depth would be.
Bo you have a minimum safe depth?
Sea -—-
Obviously an inch would be dangerous.
Right.
S0 you can say a lot of things are dangerous, but at
what level do we become wminimum safe?

If you don‘t have an cpinion, that’s fine.
I don’t have an cpinion on that. I really don’t.
Now, as to dangerous, we talked about one inch, two
inch, foot.

How about eight feet, is that within
dangerous?

I thought we understood I don’t have an opinion on
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this.
We had it about safe, but you said dangerous.
Is eight foot dangerous?
If you don’t have an opinion about eight foot,
that’s fine.
I don‘t have an opinion.
MR. CALDERONE: TI’ve not asked him to make

an opinion.

By Mr. Willis:

Q

If you were to make an opinion on that, what would
you do? How would you come to your opinion?
Basically with -- see, there’s a number of factors
here. Right now in the diving community there is a
discussion whether the depth should be nine feet or
ten feet or eleven feet or twelve feet, and at what
point under that board does that depth continue? Do
we go out 20 feet from the bhoard and continue with
the depth of nine feet? Do we go out 30 feet? Do
we only worry about ten feet off the board because
when they dive out? Are we talking about divers
going off the board, people that know how to dive
who normally go deep, or are we talking abcocut -- are
we talking about recreational, someone that'aééén’t
know how to dive going off a board?

There are a number of variables along that
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line and that’s why I do not want to render an
opinion, because the Jury is still out, and I'm not
involved in that research.
If you were to render an opinieon, though, you would
look at what’s being published or printed by the
Experts in those fields?
Yes, basically.
And you would pretty much accept that as the
standard?
I would accept that as the standard.
Do you understand the facts of this case to be with
regards to the rescue, that once Colleen took off
ocut of her chair, she ran down there, she got in the
water, started doing some surface diving --
Yes.
-~ other people appeared in the water to attempt to
help.
I believe so, ves.
Mr. Trocchio appeared on the scene, and organized
some type of search line.
Was trying to organize a search line.
And he finally dove in, and on the first dive the
rescue was made. I mean, he got ahold of him and
brought him ocut of the water.

I understand that, ves.
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That’s your understanding of the factsg?
Yes.
And what is your opinion then as to the amount of
time that elapsed then from the time Colleen took
off to the point Mr. Trocchio brought him out of the
water?
From the time she took off from the guard stand?
Right.
A couple of minutes, max. I mean -- less than a
couple of minutes,
You think -- it’s your opinion all that took place
and happened under two minuteg?
It appears from the information that that’s roughly
how long it took, a couple minutes,
Do you find that to be reasonable in your mind,
knowing what you know about lifeguarding?
Yes, that seems to be reasonable. And since he was

under water and it did take some search, it’s

reasonable. But, again, I‘m saying it‘s less than a
couple minutes. It may have been less than a
minute. I'm not certain.

It could have been more than a couple minutes, too;
couldnft it?
It could have been, but from the information I was

able to read, it didn’t appear that it was that
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long.
What gives you that recollection?
Just the standard time and what actually happened,
what she did, what Fil did, and what actually
happened, it just doesn‘t register in my mind that
that would take more than several minutes toc do, to
coordinate and to execute, you know, unless they
stopped and discussed it for a while, and that was
never really an issue, it just seemed things were
falling into place, which normally in the rescues
that I’ve been involved in in lifeguard situations,
that’s what normally happens. Things happen, people
don‘t stand around. They do, they execute, and the
passage of time is sometimes very difficult to
surmise.
I agree with that 100 percent, that the perception
of time for the person involved is difficult to
perceive accurately.
Right.
That’s why I'm askilng vour opinion in reviewing all
that.
And that’s why I said what I said. In my
experience, if T was to do it with a cast of
lifeguards, it would be approximately that time that

I have indicated for that to be executed.
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Would the time vary 1f you started using Jjust the
averade Joe, people off the street that --

MR. CALDERONE: Untrained lifequards?

MR. WILLIS: That’s an official title for
them. Untrained lifeguards

MR. CALDERONE: To execute this?

MR. WILLIS: Your search line.

MR. CALDERONE: I object to the guestion.

Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: It would, but, see, that
doesn’t enter in because the operation hinges
upon two key people, and that is Colleen
Smith, the lifeguard, and Fil, the lifeguard.
If one of the nonlifeguards retrieved the

person, then that enters another scenaric.

By Mr. Willis:

Q

I guess my understanding of the facts are that, and
I have no problem with that, Colleen doing the
surface dive, Fil shows up on the scene at some
point after being =--

Sees a couple people in the water -- there were
pecple he wanted to get organized. It’'s my
understanding she did like three surface dives or
something before Fil got there, which wouldn‘t take

very much time at all.
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I don’t know. Three surface dives.
How long can she hold her breath? That‘s
difficult to say, right?

MR. CALDERONE: To the extent we’re
talking about how many dives she did and
everything --

MR. WILLIS: We’ll rely on the facts in
the deposition.

MR. CALDERONE: -— we’ll rely on the
facts.

Willis:

But at some point, Fil shows up over there, and he’s
organizing people from the picnic pavilion that have
jumped in the water, and he organizes them in the
search line, and then has them go down, come back
up, go back to the furthest person back, go down =--
That’'s reascnable,

Tt’s reasonable. I understand the lifeguard manual
teaches that; do they not?
Yes, they do.

I'm not saying he did anvthing unresasonable. I'm
asking about the time to organize untrained peocple
after arriving on a scene after Colleen has done
three surface dives, three people are doing this two

or three times, and then you dive in, do you think
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all that could take place within two minutes?
I think it could take place within two minutes,
yeah.
And that’s really -- you would agree that’s hard to
judge?
It’s difficult to judge, but, like I said, if I
would try to reenact those situations, I could
definitely get that type of situation, that wheole
scenario within the two minutes. Leave the guard
gtand, run, ask someone to get Fil, enter the water,
make three surface dives, there’s pecple in the
water, he tells them to do this, do that, he goes
off the board and recovers the person. That could
be done in two minutes.
Let’s do some basic housekeeping here.

Have you ever given a deposition before?
Yes.
How many times?
Mayvbe a dozen.
Have you testified in trial hefore?
No.
Never testified in a trial?
No, not as an Expert Witness.
How about for the State of Pennsylvanlia in Water

Safety?
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No.
What are your charges in this case to date?
MR. CALDERONE: Objection.
I’m sorry. I don’t understand the guestion.
Willis:
Your charge for this case?
My charge for this case?
Yes.
I basically get paid $60 an hour for research or
work in my home,
Is that what you’re asking?
Yes.
And if I require travel, it’s $800 a day. If it’s a
nalf day, it’s $400. I’'m not getting paid that for
this particular day. I am getting paid somewhat
less than that, I believe, due to your firm.
How much time have you put in this case to date
approximately?
With the day, the travel was one day for the Pine
Lake visit, traveled several hours, the time I spent
there I would consider that a day, even though my
travel time wasn‘t into the case, it‘s my time, and
the review of depositions and materials, I'm saying
I guess there’s six to eight hours, maybe, or six to

ten hours, something like that.
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What other standards do you recognize as reasonable
for the positioning of lifeguards in a facility like
Pine Lake Lodge? You’ve indicated -- we talked
about the 10/20, and you say it‘’s reasonable under
any standards. I‘m asking what other standards you
recognize as reasonable.
A 15-minute -~ strike that. A 15-second standard
would be reasonable in an open water facility, I
believe, and a 30-second time frame in getting to
someone in an open water facility would be
reasonable.
On top of the 157
On top of the 15 to 30. Again, I feel that that
would be reasonable in open water.
And you're considering Pine Lake Lodge open water?
I would consider it open water.
Any other standards that you would accept as
reasonable?
I'm not sure I understand the guestion.

Do you want me to explain what I thought was
done right?
I think you’ve already explained what vou think the
lifeguards did was right.

Is there something else that we haven’t talked

about that you thought was done right?

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333




i0

11

12

13

14

17

i8

19

20

22

23

24

25

80

The fact that the lifeguard was in the chair
watching the people, and for that type of day and
that amount of people in the water is not typical.
Many facilities that I have been associated with
would have a lifeguard at a compromising position,
meaning off the chair and not watching just because
the probability of an accident is -- of responding
to the accident isn’t as great because of the number
of people in the water and the conditions, and the
ease it is in which to watch that number of people.

In a sense, I commend the lifeguard for being
on the chair watching the people rather than just
being off the chair walking around the area watching
the people because the chair is a vantage point.
You can see much more clearly the pecple in the
water than you could if you were down on the beach.
What else do you think was done right here, other
than what we have talked about, with resaction?
We had another individual who was trained, another
lifeguard who was on, let’s call it, standby or
basically backup where, under some conditions, one
lifeguard without any backup could conceivably exist
and it would still be something that would be
acceptable, but I think the plus was there were two

certified, two trained people there to deal with the
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situation, even though the number of people in the
water and the conditions that were existing were not
such to indicate that you really needed two
lifeguards on duty.

Anything else that you think was done right?

The reactions of the lifeguards in doing what they
did and when they did it within the time that we --
that I, in my opinion, assumed they did it was
commendable.,

Anything else we’ve discussed at all?

The time in which the emergency response unit showed
up. Someone apparently took it upon themselves to
contact the lecal ambulance, and with the time that
they showed up and the action which was done is
something that was very, very reascnable and
prudent. That’‘s basically it.

Is there anything you think they did wrong?

Under the situation, no, I don‘t think there’s
anything that they did that was incorrect.

Is there anything that you think they could have
done better?

Well, vou could always say that things could have
been done better.

We’re Monday morning guarterbacking here, I

understand that, but I'm asking for your opinion.
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What could they have done better?

She could have recovered him the first dive that she
went down, but that’s a chance, that’s not something
due to her lack of skills or lack of ability, that
was just the way the cards fell. She wasn’t able to
make contact with him. Whether that would have made
anything different or not, I’m not sure. I‘m not
sure of the amount of time she dove down and the
time that Fil dove down.

This person was intoxicated. We have to
assume that this person had some responsibility feor
themselves in being intoxicated and entering the
water. We can’t expect lifeguards and owners of
facilities to be responsible for all of our actions.
People have to take scme responsibilities for their
own actions, people have to take some responsibility
for their own actions. Itfs unfortunate that he was
drinking, and it‘s unfortunate that this accident
cccurred, but some of that responsibility, in fact,
most of the responsibility, has to fall upon the
person.

I think you‘ve hit upon the real issue of this case.
mAnything else that you think they could have
done hetter?

I could -~ not really. I mean, we could say that
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Fil could have been on duty instead of on standby.

We could say that --

Q Would that be unreasonable for him to be on duty?

A I don’t think it weould have been necessary for him

to be on duty. I don‘t know that it would be
unreasonable. It wasn’t necessary for him to be on
duty. It wasn’t necessary for him to watch I guess,

ag you said, eight people.

Q You indicated that you reviewed -- I thought I had

this marked. This has probably been marked as an
Exhibit five or six times in different depositions.
MR. WILLIS: Why don’t you mark this as an
Exhibit so we can identify this?
{Plaintiff’'s Exhibit 2 was
marked for identification.)}

By Mr. Willis:

Q I'm going to hand you what’s been marked for

identification purposes as Exhibit No. 2 entitled
"Guide for Evaluation of Bathing Areas."®
You have had an oppertunity to review that;

haven’t you?

r:§ I'm not sure T saw this one.

THE WITNESS: pida 17
MR. CALDERONE: I don’t know if you have

it here. T sent it to you.
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Willis:
If you don‘t have a reccllection --
I don’t have a recollection ~- well, wait a minute,
yes. "Provide one or more gualified lifeguards" --
I remember reading that in one of the documents.
"Provide elevated lifeguard stations.®* Okay, I
probably did review this. Yes, I did. I did review
this. I'm sorry.
That’s fine. With regard to what you just read,
which is Section 6-D, "Lifeguards: Provide one or
more gualified lifeguards for each 300 linear feet
of bathing area shoreline," do you believe that to
be an unreasonable standard?

MR. CALDERONE: Obhijection.
See, I den't feel}l that -- that’s not reasonable if
you have 500 peocple., What are they saving? They’re
saying provide one or more gualified lifeguards for
each 300 linear feet. If you have 300 linear feet
and you have 500 people in the water, how far out
are we going? Are we going out 50 feelt, 100 feet,
200 feet? There are other factors.
Willis:
I understand that.
And that’s why I sometimes guestion organizations,

State organizations, the bureaucracy that’s involved
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when they set a statement Ilike that as a standard
pecause there’s teoo many variables.
Would you term this a very stringent standard or a
very loose standard?
I can‘t answer it. I really can’t answer that. It
depends on how far out. It’s pretty loose 1f vyou’‘re
talking about 300 foot and you’re only geing out 10
feet. I mean, there’s not much area there. But if
you‘re going out 300 feet, there‘s a lot more area.
If you’re talking about -- how many people are you
talking about in the water? That has a lot to do
with it, the number of patrons using your facility.

One lifeguard is fine for 400 feet if there’s
only seven people in the water, and they’re there in
front of the lifeguard stand. He or she can still
watch That area i someone else enters, and then if
more people enter, then call on the backup lifeguard
te, ¥Hey, go on duty. You stand down here, and I711
stand up here.®

Many times these things are very ambiguous, I
don’t know how they came up with that or why they
came up with it, but it leaves a let of gray area
for me as a Manager of a facility or as a Head
Lifeguard.

It leaves a lot of gray area when you add the
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multiple factors in that you indicated, but it‘s
pretty self-explanatory; isn’t it?

If it’s a code or a statute that says you will
provide one or more lifeguards for each 300 linear
feet of bathing area, then it’s straightforward.
Then 1f you have 300 feet of linear area of a beach,
then you should have a lifeguard or more there. I
mean, that’s straightforward if that’s what we’re
doing.

The standards you‘re discussing that you think that
they met, the 10/20, 15/30 ==

That’s the standard of care.

But would you consider those to be more stringent
than that?

I would figure those to be more applicable to the
standard of care to the safety of patrons. That
doesn‘t, for me, really give me any acceptable
safety standard.

You indicated you helped write some regulations in
Pennsylvania.

Not to lifequarding.

With boating?

Boatiﬁg.

So you’re not involved in any regulations or

anything with regards to lifeguarding?

MERRITT & LOEW COURT REPORTING SERVICE - (216) 434-1333




10

il

12

13

14

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

87

Yes, I am. I'm sorry. Yeg, I am.
What ones?
The number of lifeguards per bathers, number of
lifeguards per sguare foot in an area, but not
through my job. I'm also President of the
Pennsylvania Aquatic Council. The number of
counties in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania are
considering or trying to get these kinds of
regulations off the books, and to get things that
make a little kit more sense for liability reasons.
Have you guys created some type of standard for
that?

Basically we’re developing a standard for that, and
it really has to deal with the ability of the
lifeguard, things like the 10/20 rule. That is more
ppropriate than linear foot or sguare footage. The
10/20 rule, it’s more appropriate to zone an area,
where the number of bathers are in a zone. The zone
would change with the number of bathers that would
be there, and that’s what I‘m currently working on.
But that is not to be confused with what I am
charged to do with the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.
This is as an official -- as President of the
Aquatic Council, I have been asked to review some of

these things and become involved and help set sone
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gstandards for the different counties that are
responsible for these sorts of things, and actually
the counties -~ the one county would be Allegheny
County, Department of Health.

Q Is that on Lake Erie?

A No, thatfs in Pittsburgh.

MR. CALDERONE: Off the record.
(Discussion had off record.)

By Mr. Willis:

O Prior to testifying in this case at trial, are there
any additional people you plan to talk to, documents
you plan to review?

A I don’t have any plans to talk to anybody or to
review any particular documents at this time, no.

Q You‘ve had the opportunity of reading Mr. Kunsman®s
deposition.

A That’s correct.

) What of his opinion do you disagree with? Let ne
ask you, I guess, in that fashion.

Fy I don’t recall anything particularly that I disagree
with in his deposition.

8] I believe ==

A I can name some things I do agree with him on., I

can’t recall anything that I particularly disagree

with. There are some things that I'm not really
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sure what he really meant.
What are you not sure about?
I’'m not sure about why the diving depth is an issue.

MR. CALDERCNE: That‘s a good guestion.

By Mr. Willis:

Q

A

Is it possible that he hit == I shouldn’t say hit,
but ended up on a dive face into the muck?

I‘'m sure it would be possible, but I would think
that would be reflected in the Coroner’s Report, and
I did not see anything that indicated neck or spinal
injury.

We’re talking about a soft bottonm.

Okay.

They said cervical spine injury couldn’t be ruled

out. We don’t know if there was or not, and I'm not
saying that there was. There’s no abrasions,
contusions to speak of to the head or skull. I

think that basically comes down to the guestion of
how did he get the muck in his lungs.

If you're opening up this to a spinal injurv, then
it’s a whole different hall of waw.

I“m not opening it up to a spinal injury. I'm not
saying his death is some result of a spinal injufy&

I'm just guestioning whether he did end up at the

bottom, dive in, hit bottom, talking a diving area
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now in the eight to nine foot range, he‘s six foot
two, it doesn’t take much to get to the bottom at
that point, depending on how he actually entered the
water. That’s the main question.
The eight or nine foot range, has that been
verified?
That’s a county measurement, Portage County Health
Department measurements.
They have an official measurement for that time?
Thelir official measurement was several years prior
to that.
Because did not Mr. -- in his discussion with me,
and I think in his deposition he’s talking ten to
twelve feet, so I --
But he also claims that he hasn’t been able to make
it any deeper. If anything, it would be getting
shallower, and the depth measurements were made in
"85 by Portage County, =80 -—-
I don’t know the volume of water that goes into
that, whether his -- therefs too many variables.
Like I say, T'a aue oule SHLY  LIiE GE et WL i WL e
is an issue.
I don’t think it is an issue. I’m not sayihg it is.
I don’t know.

Back to the original question. VYou asked me if 1
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disagreed with anything about Mr. Kunsman‘s
deposition, and it’s not that I disagree, I just
don‘t understand why that was brought in, because
even in his deposition, he sort of stops and catches
himself and doesn’t pursue his line of thinking,
because, again, I think that he feels, I’'m guessing,
the same why I do, that I‘m not sure it’s an issue.
He brought it up and then he dropped it, and it
wasn’t pursued.

I don’t want to put words in his mouth, but T think
it’s == I think there are guestions about it and
those relate ~- the depth relates to did he hit
bottom in some form or fashion? Is that how he got
the mud or muck in his lungs, hitting bottom and
sucking it in? And I don‘t know.

There 1s another explanation which you asked nme
before. People that are intoxicated, it has been
hypothesized and, in some cases, documented, I
guess, that when yvou’re under water and vou‘re
intoxicated, you lose vyour sense of direction,
VELLIYU, a0l sumcbiues sowsons SL1L Swinm down Towond
the bottom thinking that it is up, and drowning
victims have been found with gravel in their.idﬁgs,
and the explanation of that was they were in the

water, thev were intoxicated, they were disoriented,
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and instead of swimming up to safety or up to air to
the surface, they swam down to the bottom, and
aspirated and kept digging into the bottom and
drowned that way. Through inquiries and research
and you talk to other water safety experts, I think
that will come out.

Have you heard that before?
I have heard that.

My question is, do you think that‘s the case

here?
I don’t know. I don’t know.
MR. CALDERONE: Since we don’t know what
really happened --
Willis:
That’s the problem in any -~=- a lot of wrongful death

cases 15 we don‘t know.

You heard his explanation of the 16/20 rule,
or I shouldn‘t say heard, read, and I believe"he
indicated, if I'm not mistaken in his deposition, 20

seconds to get to the victim, rescue the victin,

e - k] T ¥ohe . ~ .
wro or loso, and T deon’t know cuwactly what word he

used, but was that vour understanding of the 10/207
I don‘t recall exactly how he interprated it. 1
know that he alluded to the 10/20 rule, but I’'m not

sure whether he interpreted to get to the leccation
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or make the rescue or touch the victim. T know it
was in his deposition, but how he interpreted it,
I‘m not certain.
You would be in agreement that a lake is more
difficult to lifeguard than a pool?
It can be more difficult. Like I said, not always,
because you could have a pool that has a
configuration that might have some blind spots and
hidden areas, or you can have a small lake like Pine
Lake Lodge which might not be all that difficult to
guard as far as coverage and scanning.
Clarity of the waters makes it more difficult?
It makes it more difficult when people go under,
definitely. It doesn’t make it more difficult in
the scanning process.
The fact they allow alcchol would make it more
difficult in your opinion; would it net?
If they permitted people to be intoxicated that were
in the water, yes. ESoe T Ann/+ ww T/m nat cartsin
where that places an important part in the
ilifeguard’s -~
MR. CALDERONE: That’s okay. Juegt listen
to his quéstion and answer. We've been here
for two hours already.

MR. WILLIS: VYou deposed him for three.
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94
THE WITNESS: Ask the question again, if

you would, please.

With regards to the alcohol, how do you think it
plays into the lifequarding situation?

People that are intoxicated or under the influence
that are using -- that are in the water are high
risk patrons. Thatfs how it plays a part.

So in other words, it puts a heavier strain on a
lifeguard?

Any high risk patron, any high risk bather puts more
time on a lifeguard, yveah.

Is it typical for a facility to create an emergency
response program for their lifeguards?

I don’t think I understand your guestion.

When you lifequard at different facilitlies, do they
not normally explain to you this is our emergency
response protocol, program or whatever?

Many facllities will have energency response
program, but apparently one fell into place because

the emergency sguad was “heare.

1

That’s up to the facility to educate their
lifequardé on; is that dorrect? I maah;'théﬁgs'ﬁét
something, there’s no standard that American Red

Cross =—-
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There is a standard one that if there is an
emergency, someone calls 9-1-1 and reports the
emergency, that’s the standard. However, the
variation of that is different for facilities. They
may have different numbers, they may have different
systems, they may have a button system, they may
have a number system and so forth, but the standard
of care is the -- the standard of care, correct
that. The standard system is the 9-1-1 system,
Mr. Chambers, have you been asked to render an
opinion in this case about anything that we have not
discussed today?
I do not believe I have been asked to render an
opinion on anything we have not discussed today.
Do you have any opinion on anything to do with this
vase Lthat we have not discussed Coday?
1 do not believe T have an opinion on anything that
hasn’t been alluded to. Maybe some of the issues T
feel need further investigation on whether there
was, in fact, people to the right of Colleen, and
whether, Iin fact, “here wers Feoplz In all 3500, as
you say, linear feet. There Seems to be some
guestion on that.
Factual questions?

Factual questions.
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And I agree there are some questions of fact here
which we’re not going to resolve today.
Right.
I'm just asking if you’ve got an opinion of
something we haven‘t talked about.
No.
You’re basing your opinion on the facts that vou
understand --
That I understand, correct.
And your opinion could change based on the change of
the facts; is that what you‘re saying?
Yeah, it could on the change of the facts.

MR. WILLIS: I have no further questions.

MR. CALDERONE: Virgil, when this

deposition -- well, we won‘t waive.

(Deposition concluded at 4:20 o’clock, p.m.)
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CERTIF FIOCATE
STATE OF OHIO,)
} 88
SUMMIT COUNTY.)

I, Stephanie R. Dean, a Notary Public within and for
the State of Ohio, duly commissioned and qualified, do
hereby certify that the within named Witness, VIRGIL
HOWARD CHAMBERS, was by me first duly sworn to testify the
truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth in the
cause aforesaid; that the testimony then given by the
Witness was by me reduced to Stenotypy in the presence of
the Witness; afterwards transcribed by computer-aided
transcription, and that the foregoing is a true and
correct transcription of the testimony so given by the
Witness as aforesaid.

I do further certify that this deposition was taken

at the time and place in the foregoing caption specified,

iy

and was completed without adijournment.

I do further certify that I am not a relative,

[ R e | Py re T e e e e o v P T S e e R A

interested in the event of this action.
LN WITNESS WHEREBOF, I have hereunto set my hand and

affixed my seal of office at Akron, Ohio, on this 2nd day

of August, 1995,

- ‘ Ve § )
{ MW% /QM% (o llips
Steghanie R. Dean, Notary Public’
in and for the State of Ohio.

My commission expires August 30, 1995,
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